IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

)

CITIZENS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellants,

v.

CASE NO. 75,597

MICHAEL MCK. WILSON, ETC., ET AL., Appellees.

> ON APPEAL OF ORDER NO. 22467 FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION DOCKET NO. 891303-EI PETITION OF TAMPA ELECTRIC COMPANY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS, CITIZENS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

> Jack Shreve Public Counsel Fla. Bar No. 0073622

John Roger Howe Assistant Public Counsel Fla. Bar No. 253911

Office of Public Counsel c/o The Florida Legislature 111 W. Madison Street Room 812 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1400

904/488-9330

Attorneys for the Citizens of the State of Florida

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 16, 1989, Tampa Electric Company (TECO) petitioned the Florida Public Service Commission (PSC) to approve a one-year extension of a supplemental service rider tariff for interruptible customers. $[A-1]^1$ The original service rider had been approved for calendar year 1989. TECO wanted to offer a similar tariff during 1990. The PSC considered the petition at the January 2, 1990, agenda conference, voting to approve it as filed, with one modification. [A-18] The decision was reported in Order No. 22467, dated January 24, 1990. [A-19]

The validity of the PSC's approval of the 1989 service rider is now before the Court in <u>Citizens of the State of Florida v.</u> <u>Michael McK. Wilson, etc., et al.</u>, Case No. 75,074. Briefs have been filed, and oral argument is scheduled for June 8, 1990. The decision in that case may be dispositive of this appeal.

TECO had requested approval for the 1989 service rider in a petition filed November 17, 1988. [A-23] The service rider gave a credit on electric bills to large industrial customers taking service pursuant to interruptible rate schedules. The discount was equal to the difference between marginal and average fuel costs for electricity usage above a threshold derived from historic consumption. The PSC voted on December 20, 1988, to deny TECO's

¹Portions of the record included in the appendix to this brief are referred to by the appendix page number. Other portions of the record are referenced by the letter "R" with a page designation.

petition but announced that a similar tariff providing for a sharing of fuel savings would be approved. [A-31]

The PSC authorized its staff to "administratively approve" a tariff giving the interruptible customer 80% of any fuel savings, with the other 20% going to the general body of ratepayers. Sometime shortly after the agenda conference, TECO filed a tariff which the PSC's staff approved without review by the Commissioners. [A-32]

TECO used the service rider credits to reduce the fuel revenues reported in the fuel cost recovery docket. The tariff did not provide for this explicitly, but TECO had stated in its petition that the credits would be used "to downwardly adjust fuel revenues reported in the fuel adjustment filing." [A-25] This had the effect of increasing fuel cost recovery charges to all customers to reimburse TECO for credits given to interruptible customers.

The denial of TECO's petition was recorded in Order No. 20581, dated January 10, 1989. [A-34] The order did not mention the PSC staff's authorization to approve a tariff or TECO's implementation of a revised service rider pursuant to staff's action.

The Public Counsel provides legal representation for the people of the State in proceedings before the PSC pursuant to Section 350.0611, Florida Statutes (1989). The Public Counsel is authorized to appear, in the name of the State or its Citizens, in any proceeding or action before the PSC and urge therein any position he deems to be in the public interest, whether consistent

or inconsistent with positions previously adopted by the Commission. § 350.0611(1), Fla. Stat. (1989). Generally, the Public Counsel appears on behalf of a utility's residential consumers.

On May 5, 1989, the Citizens of the State of Florida, through the Office of Public Counsel, filed a "Protest and Request for Hearing on Tampa Electric Company's Supplemental Service Rider Tariff for Interruptible Customers" in which they alleged, among other things, that TECO's tariff did not conform to Order No. 20581, and it had not been approved as final agency action pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, Chapter 120, Florida Statutes (1987). [A-38] The Protest and Request for Hearing stated explicitly that it was not a complaint against a valid tariff. [A-46]

The PSC, on October 25, 1989, issued Order No. 22093 treating the Protest and Request for Hearing as a complaint challenging only the prospective application of the tariff. [A-49] On November 22, 1989, the Citizens of the State of Florida, through the Office of Public Counsel, filed their Notice of Administrative Appeal. One of the issues in that appeal is whether the PSC failed to provide a clear point of entry to challenge the 1989 service rider. Another issue is whether TECO's tariff actually complied with Order No. 20581.

TECO's petition for a one-year extension through 1990 modified some terms of the 1989 tariff. Instead of applying a zero credit when marginal fuel costs exceeded the average, the tariff proposed

for 1990 required the interruptible customer to pay 100% of the difference. [A-10] On the subject of recovery in the fuel docket, TECO said "[t]he discounts earned by participating Customers will continue to be used to downwardly adjust fuel revenues reported in the fuel adjustment filing." [A-3]

The PSC considered the 1990 service rider at the January 2, 1990, agenda conference. The agenda conference was not noticed or held as a hearing under the APA, although interested persons were permitted to address the Commission. Attorneys representing the Office of Public Counsel, TECO and the Florida Industrial Power Users Group (an ad hoc association of large industrial customers) participated in the agenda conference discussion, along with three PSC staff members. Mr. Howe, for the Office of Public Counsel, acknowledged that the 1990 tariff corrected one of that office's concerns with the 1989 version by having the credit apply when marginal cost exceeded average cost. [A-56] He asserted, however, that TECO's ratepayers were still harmed because they would continue to pay the same base rates but would now pay increased fuel adjustment charges to reimburse TECO for credits given to interruptible customers. [A-57, 70]

The pending Supreme Court appeal was also discussed. Since the appeal was addressed principally to PSC procedures, it was acknowledged that another appeal would be necessary to attack the application of similar procedures to PSC consideration of the 1990 tariff. [A-68-70]

TECO had addressed the pending appeal in a December 19, 1989, pleading entitled "Supplement to Petition of Tampa Electric Company for a One-Year Extension of its Supplemental Service Rider for Interruptible Service." [A-16] TECO agreed to have its petition treated through the proposed-agency-action process, which would afford affected persons an opportunity for hearing, and to refund, with interest, any amounts the PSC ultimately decided were unjustified. [A-17]

The PSC did not accept TECO's offer and, as it had done with the 1989 service rider, the PSC approved the one-year extension without offering a point of entry into the tariff-approval process. TECO's petition was approved as final agency action, with the modification that the interruptible customer only be charged with 80% of increased costs when marginal fuel costs exceeded average fuel costs. [A-18] The decision was recorded in Order No. 22467, dated January 24, 1990. [A-19] The Citizens of the State of Florida, through the Office of Public Counsel, filed their Notice of Administrative Appeal on February 23, 1990. [R-83]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Once again, the PSC has refused to provide the Public Counsel or other adversely affected persons with the clear point of entry mandated by the Administrative Procedure Act, Chapter 120, Florida Statutes (1989). The PSC has also failed to comply with the notice and hearing requirements of Section 366.06(2), Florida Statutes (1989). The PSC's approval of Tampa Electric Company's petition

to extend its supplemental service rider through the year 1990 is invalid and ineffective until the PSC provides appropriate notice and opportunity for hearing and renders an order based on a record compiled pursuant to Section 120.57, Florida Statutes (1989).

ARGUMENT

I.

THE PSC'S APPROVAL OF TECO'S SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICE RIDER TARIFF WAS SUBJECT TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT, CHAPTER 120, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989).

A. TECO'S FIRM CUSTOMERS WERE HARMED BY PSC APPROVAL OF TECO'S PETITION FOR A ONE-YEAR EXTENSION OF THE SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICE RIDER TARIFF.

Order No. 22467 did two things: 1) it authorized TECO to reduce charges to its large industrial customers; and 2) it allowed TECO to increase fuel cost recovery charges to recoup credits given pursuant to the service rider. Approval of the service rider reduced rates for interruptibles and increased rates for firm customers.

TECO's authority to increase fuel cost recovery charges is not explicit in Order No. 22467. The order merely notes that "[t]he company proposes continuing to adjust fuel revenues downward reflecting the discounts earned by customers served under the SSI [supplemental service-interruptible] rider." Order No. 22467, at 2. [A-20] TECO and the PSC, however, view approval of the tariff as authority to also recover the credits.

Electric utility fuel cost recovery factors are established every six months. The PSC sets the factors based on the utilities'

projections of fuel expenses for generation. The projections are compared with actual experience in subsequent proceedings. Any over- or underrecoveries are incorporated in succeeding projection periods to be returned or recouped with associated carrying costs (i.e., interest). Reducing reported revenues because of the service rider credits creates a revenue shortfall and increases the fuel cost recovery charge accordingly. TECO's firm customers are, therefore, paying higher rates for electric service because of Order No. 22467.

Order No. 22467 tries to portray the service rider as a benefit to TECO's customers, stating, at 2 [A-20]:

While the bulk of the credit earned by increased KWH [kilowatt-hour] sales goes to the interruptible customers on the rider, the general body of ratepayers realized a net benefit of over \$2 million due to increased base rate revenues during the first nine months of 1989. KWH sales increased by 238,693,928, generating \$3,294,877 in base rate revenues while TECO paid out \$1,216,224 in fuel credits.

It would appear TECO's customers received almost \$2 million, computed as the difference between increased base revenues and credits paid to interruptible customers. In fact, TECO received all of the base revenue increase and its customers reimbursed the utility for the credits. In other words, TECO benefited to the tune of \$3.3 million. Its customers, however, paid the same base rates as always and an additional \$1.2 million to offset the service rider credits. Order No. 22467 harmed TECO's customers, and it is invalid under the APA.

The APA requires notice and an opportunity for hearing. The APA requires an evidentiary basis for findings of fact. The APA requires an agency to defend and explicate its interpretation of governing statutes and the applicability of nonrule policy. The Court must remand for appropriate proceedings because Order No. 22467 was entered in derogation of the due process safeguards incorporated into the APA. § 120.68(8)-(13), Fla. Stat. (1989).

B. THE PSC'S PROCEDURES FOR APPROVING ELECTRIC UTILITY TARIFFS ON A PERMANENT BASIS ARE NOT EXEMPT FROM THE APA.

Order No. 22467 is invalid unless consideration of TECO's petition was exempt from the APA. Any exemptions must be explicit within the APA or found elsewhere in statutes. § 120.72, Fla. Stat. (1989);² Roberson v. Florida Parole & Probation Commission, 444 So.2d 917, 919 (Fla. 1983) ("The APA was intended to apply to all agencies unless specifically exempted under the Act. <u>Graham</u> <u>Contracting, Inc. v. Department of General Services</u>, 363 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), <u>cert. denied</u>, 373 So.2d 457 (Fla. 1979)."). There is no general exception for utility tariffs. A limited

²Section 120.72(1)(a) reads: "The intent of the Legislature in enacting this complete revision of chapter 120 is to make uniform and adjudicative procedures rulemaking used by the the administrative agencies of this state. To that end, it is the express intent of the Legislature that chapter 120 shall supersede all other provisions in the Florida Statutes, 1977, relating to rulemaking, agency orders, administrative adjudication, licensing procedure, or judicial review or enforcement of administrative action for agencies as defined herein to the extent such provisions conflict with chapter 120, unless expressly provided otherwise by law subsequent to January 1, 1975, except for marketing orders adopted pursuant to chapters 573 and 601." See City of Plant City v. Mayo, 337 So.2d 966, 969 (Fla. 1976).

exemption applies to temporary, interim rates, collected before the APA process is concluded, but none exists for permanent rate changes.

Electric utility tariffs are filed pursuant to Section 366.06, Florida Statutes (1989). File-and-suspend procedures appear in Subsection 366.06(4). That subsection was enacted as Chapter 74-195, Laws of Florida. A limited exemption from the APA for Chapter 74-195 is found in Section 120.72(3), which reads:

Notwithstanding any provision of this chapter, all public utilities and companies regulated by the Public Service Commission shall be entitled to proceed under the interim rate provisions of chapter 364 or the procedures for interim rates contained in chapter 74-195, Laws of Florida, or as otherwise provided by law.

Since there are no other statutory exemptions, any conclusion that the tariff-approval process is outside the APA must be grounded on this provision. Note, however, that it only entitles public utilities to proceed under the <u>interim rate</u> provisions of Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, (which governs PSC regulation of telephone companies) or Chapter 74-195, Laws of Florida.

Interim rates are those rates authorized to be collected pending the outcome of a full rate case subject to hearings under the APA. Order No. 22467 did not establish interim rates for TECO; it is a final order setting permanent rates for 1990.³ There is no

³Although TECO's service rider will only be in effect for one year pursuant to Order No. 22467, the rates will be temporary and not "interim." Interim rates have been uniformly recognized to be those a utility is allowed to charge until the hearing process is concluded. <u>See</u> § 366.071(1), Fla. Stat. (1989)("The commission may, during any proceeding for a change of rates, upon its own motion, or upon petition from any party, or by a tariff filing of (continued...)

statutory provision exempting the PSC from the APA for permanent rate changes under file-and-suspend or any other statute.

C. THE PSC FAILED TO PROVIDE A CLEAR POINT OF ENTRY FOR SUBSTANTIALLY AFFECTED PERSONS TO PARTICIPATE IN ITS CONSIDERATION OF TECO'S SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICE RIDER TARIFF.

The PSC voted to take final agency action at the January 2, 1990, agenda conference. The agenda conference was not noticed or held as a hearing, though, and the PSC was not voting based on a record compiled at an earlier hearing. In <u>Florida Interconnect</u> <u>Telephone Co. v. Florida Public Service Commission</u>, 342 So.2d 811, 814 (Fla. 1976), this Court observed, in dicta, that the agenda conference was no substitute for a hearing under the APA:

[T]he agenda conference could not have been the occasion for taking 'final agency action' because it was preceded by inadequate notice. . . Adequacy of notice is not a factor in reaching our decision in this case because the action taken at the hearing [sic: agenda conference] (i.e., intermediate consideration of the new rates) would have occurred had the hearing not been held. Nevertheless, we do not find the [Florida Administrative Weekly notice] to constitute adequate notice within the contemplation of Section 120.57(1)(b)2.b., Florida Statutes (1975).

The notice for the PSC's January 2, 1990, consideration of TECO's petition was virtually identical to the notice discussed in <u>Florida</u> <u>Interconnect</u>. The purpose of the agenda conference was "to consider those matters ready for decision." 15 Fla. Admin. Weekly 5891-92 (Dec. 15, 1989) [A-87]. TECO's petition, however, was not ready for a final decision. The PSC has not offered any further

³(...continued) a public utility, authorize the collection of interim rates until the effective date of the final order. . . ."). proceedings to challenge approval of TECO's service rider for 1990, even though the January 2, 1990, agenda conference could not have been the occasion for final agency action. <u>See General Development</u> <u>Utilities, Inc. v. Hawkins</u>, 357 So.2d 408, 409 (Fla. 1978) ("The arbitrary selection of this [equity/debt] ratio as a 'fact' comes from outside the record of the proceeding and plainly violates the notions of agency due process which are embodied in the administrative procedure act.").

The Commission's rules recognize the applicability of the APA. Rule 25-22.036, Florida Administrative Code, applies to all Section 120.57 hearings. [A-84] Rule 25-22.036(4)(a) states that a petition is the appropriate pleading for an electric utility seeking authority to change its rates or service. [A-84] Accordingly, TECO sought permission to offer a supplemental service rider in 1990 by filing a petition to that effect. Rule 25-22.036(9)(a) provides that the Commission will dispose of a petition in one of four ways, each consistent with the APA [A-85]:

1. The Commission will deny the petition if it does not adequately state a substantial interest in the Commission determination or if it is untimely;

2. The Commission will issue a notice of proposed agency action where a rule or statute does not mandate a hearing as a matter of course, and after the time for responsive pleadings has passed;

3. The Commission will set the matter for hearing before the Commission, or member thereof, or request that a hearing

officer from the Division of Administrative Hearings be assigned to conduct the hearing. The assignment of a matter for hearing shall be pursuant to Rule 25-22.0355; or 4. The Commission will dispose of the matter as provided in section 120.57(2).

Therefore, pursuant to Section 120.57 and its own rules, the PSC cannot allow a tariff affecting the substantial interests of TECO's firm customers to go into effect on a permanent basis without providing a clear point of entry into the decisionmaking process. See International Minerals & Chemical Corp. v. Mayo, 336 So.2d 548, 552-53 (Fla. 1976) ("Both by statute [Section 120.57(1)(b)8, Florida Statutes (1975)] and its own rules [Rule 25-2.116(5), Florida Administrative Code (1975)] the PSC is required in rate proceedings. [Citations findings of fact to make omitted.]"); Central Truck Lines, Inc. v. King, 146 So.2d 370, 372-73 (Fla. 1962).⁴ Section 120.68(12)(b), Florida Statutes (1989), states that the Court must remand to the agency if it finds an exercise of discretion to be inconsistent with an agency rule.

⁴The Court's opinion reads, in pertinent part: "The Commission not only neglected to follow the mandate of Section 323.03 F.S.A. and Chapter 120, Administrative Procedure Act, Section 120.25(8) F.S.A., but also ignored its own Rule 2.620 Formal Orders [requiring findings of fact to support final decisions]. . . [T]he Commission has heretofore almost uniformly met the requirements of statutory law and its own rule in making and entering its orders. We cannot understand why the Commission failed in this case to meet said requirements. The fact remains, however, that the Commission neglected to comply with them. . . It is assuredly obvious that we have no alternative. This Court must reverse the Commission's Order No. 5320"

The Commission had been engaged in a free-form proceeding until it voted to approve TECO's petition. At that time, it decided on a course of conduct that had obvious, adverse consequences for firm customers. It had to invite participation <u>See</u> § 120.59(4), Fla. Stat. (1989)⁵; <u>U.S.</u> Sprint from them. Communications Co. v. Nichols, 534 So.2d 698, 699 (Fla. 1988) ("Section 120.57(1), Florida Statutes (1985), requires an agency to provide a party whose 'substantial interests' are affected by the agency's actions with an opportunity to request a hearing."); City of St. Cloud v. Department of Environmental Regulation, 490 So.2d 1356, 1358 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) ("Notice of agency action which does not inform the affected party of his right to request a hearing, and the time limits for doing so, is inadequate to provide a clear point of entry to the administrative process."); FFEC-SIX, Inc. v. Florida Public Service Commission, 425 So.2d 152, 153 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) ("The Commission order did not . . . articulate appellant's right to request a § 120.57, Florida Statutes, hearing, or the applicable time limit for such a request, or the applicable procedural rules. The Commission has thereby failed to provide appellant with a <u>clear</u> point of entry into the administrative process, thus rendering the Commission action

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