IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

))

)

)

CITIZENS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellants,

v.

MICHAEL MCK. WILSON, ETC., ET AL.,

Appellees.

CASE NO. 75,597

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

SUSAN F. CLARK General Counsel

DAVID E. SMITH Director of Appeals

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0861 (904) 488-7464

Attorneys for Appellees

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Public Counsel's claim that he has been deprived of due process by the Commission's approval of TECO's SSI tariff is purely academic. Public Counsel has been given two opportunities for hearing in which he could have raised the issue of the recovery of fuel credits from TECO's general body of ratepayers. Those were the complaint hearing set by Order No. 22093, which Public Counsel appealed, and the February, 1990, fuel adjustment proceedings in Docket No. 900001-EI. Public Counsel has not taken the opportunity to address the substance of his complaint but continues to pursue the issue in the abstract through appeals based on procedural points.

Public Counsel's procedural arguments under the APA, the electric file and suspend law, and constitutional concept of due process are likewise without merit.

The Commission approved TECO's supplemental service rider under the procedures of the file and suspend law, section 366.06(4), Florida Statutes. Under this Court's interpretation of the file and suspend law, a complaint proceeding provides an adequate opportunity to contest the implementation of a tariff.

Since this Court decided <u>Citizens of Florida v. Mayo</u>, 333 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1976) under the first file and suspend law, it has been recognized that, in dealing with tariff filings proposing changes in a utility's rates, charges, and regulations, the Commission has a range of options which includes the alternatives of suspending the rates, actively approving their implementation

- 6 -

or taking no action, thereby allowing the rates to go into effect. Under none of these alternatives is the Commission required by the APA to hold an evidentiary hearing prior to its action, even if it means that increased rates may go into effect without hearing. This procedure survived the 1974 amendments to the APA and applies to tariff filings as well as regular rate increases. <u>Florida Interconnect Telephone Company v. Florida</u> Public Service Commission, 342 So.2d 811 (Fla. 1976).

Constitutional concepts of due process are not violated by file and suspend statutes. It is generally held that while a utility has a property right to protect in the ratemaking process, ratepayers have no vested rights to any given level of rates. Therefore, implementation of rates under file and suspend procedures without hearing do not deny ratepayers due process. <u>Georgia Power Project v. Georgia Power Company</u>, 409 F.Supp. 332 (N.D. Ga. 1975).

The Commission's order approving the extension of TECO'S SSI tariff did not change industry wide policy. The Commission's decision is specific to one company and is of limited duration.

- 7 -

NEITHER THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT, NOR CHAPTER 366, FLORIDA STATUTES, NOR TRADITIONAL CONCEPTS OF DUE PROCESS REQUIRED THE COMMISSION TO HOLD A HEARING PRIOR TO ITS APPROVAL OF AN EXTENSION OF TECO'S SSI TARIFF.

A. THE COMMISSION PROVIDED PUBLIC COUNSEL AN OPPORTUNITY FOR HEARING IN WHICH HE COULD RAISE ANY ISSUES AFFECTING HIS SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS.

Public Counsel's claimed deprivation of due process in the Commission's approval of TECO's SSI tariff is purely academic. The Commission has afforded Public Counsel two opportunities to contest implementation of the tariff and recovery of the fuel credits from the general body of ratepayers. The first opportunity was provided when Public Counsel filed his protest to the Commission's administrative approval of TECO's original SSI tariff. Notwithstanding that the protest was filed five months after the tariff was approved, the Commission set the issue for hearing. In that proceeding, Public Counsel could have raised any issue concerning the SSI tariff, including the recovery of the fuel credits from the general body of ratepayers. Moreover, as the Case Assignment and Scheduling Record (CASR) for Docket No. 891303-EI indicates, the staff of the Commission contemplated that these issues as well as any issues arising out of the extension of the SSI tariff could be considered in that hearing. (R-18) (See staff's position on Issue 7i, page 4, supra.) The hearing was originally scheduled for May 14, 1990, and would have been held, had Public Counsel not chosen to appeal the Commission's procedural order. The second opportunity for hearing was provided

I.

to Public Counsel during the February, 1990, fuel adjustment proceedings. As the prehearing order in that docket indicates, Public Counsel raised an issue concerning the validity of TECO's adjustment of its fuel revenues by the amount of the credits given interruptible customers. He could have developed the issue by presenting his own witness and challenging the witnesses of the company. Instead, he chose only to take a legal position on the procedure followed by the Commission, consistent with his prior appeals.

In either the SSI tariff hearing scheduled by the Commission or the fuel adjustment proceedings, Public Counsel could have pursued the issue of whether the fuel credits should have been passed along to TECO's general body of ratepayers at all. The determination of fuel adjustment factors is an ongoing proceeding in which collection of the fuel charges from prior periods can be challenged. This Court has specifically recognized the validity of that proposition in the case of <u>Gulf Power Company v. Florida</u> <u>Public Service Commission</u>, 487 So.2d 1036, 1037 (Fla. 1986), where it stated:

The fuel adjustment proceeding is a continuous proceeding and operates to a utility's benefit by eliminating regulatory lag. This authorization to collect fuel costs close to the time they are incurred should not be used to divest the commission of the jurisdiction and power to review the prudence of these costs.

Public Counsel has foregone two opportunities to contest the alleged harm that he has suffered from TECO's SSI tariff; that is, the recovery of fuel credits from TECO's general body of ratepayers from the date of the approval of the tariff. It is through no fault of the Commission that he has not chosen to do so.

B. THE ELECTRIC FILE AND SUSPEND LAW, SECTION 366.06(4), FLORIDA STATUTES, DID NOT REQUIRE THE COMMISSION TO HOLD A HEARING PRIOR TO APPROVING THE EXTENSION OF TECO'S SSI TARIFF AND ALLOWING IT TO GO INTO EFFECT.

Given the opportunities for hearing the Commission has made available to Public Counsel, his claimed deprivation of due process is, as a factual matter, without merit. His claims are likewise without merit as a matter of law. This Court long ago recognized that the Commission has a range of alternatives for proceeding under the file and suspend law, including allowing the proposed rate change to go into effect without a hearing. In Citizens of Florida v. Mayo, 333 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1976) this Court found that no hearing was required before implementation of interim rates in a full rate proceeding. The Court rejected Public Counsel's argument that due process required a full evidentiary hearing and agreed with the utility that a prior hearing was not consistent with the newly enacted file and suspend law. The Court stated:

. . . We agree with Gulf Power that an inflexible hearing requirement was not intended inasmuch as the Commission can obviate any hearing requirement simply by failing to act for 30 days. We must conclude, therefore, that the Legislature intended to provide elected public service commissioners with a range of alternatives suitable to the factual variations which might arise from case to case.

Id. at 6.

The Court found no inconsistency between the "procedure for due process" contained in the then current version of the APA, section 120.26, Florida Statutes (1973), and the implementation of interim rates without hearing under the file and suspend law. <u>Id</u>. at 7.

This Court has recognized that file and suspend laws also apply to routine tariff filings. In Florida Interconnect Telephone Company v. Florida Public Service Commission, 342 So.2d 811 (Fla. 1976), the issue concerned a tariff filing by Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company which was processed by the Commission under the telephone file and suspend law (section 364.05(4), Florida Statutes (1975)). This Court found that the file and suspend law did allow Southern Bell's tariff to go into effect without a prior hearing. Southern Bell's competitor in the private branch exchange (PBX) business, Florida Interconnect Telephone Company, had asserted that it was entitled under the APA to a hearing before the tariff could become effective. This Court found that the order of the Commission, issued more than 30 days after the tariff was filed, was in "a very real sense surplusage." Id. at 813. This Court explained that conclusion as follows:

This is so because of the provisions of the 'file-andsuspend' law, enacted as Chapter 74-195, Laws of Florida. If the Commission does not object to the proposed tariff changes within 30 days, the proposed rates automatically go into effect . . .

<u>Id</u>.

This Court went on to find that the automatic implementation provision of the file and suspend law survived the adoption of the APA specifically referring to section 120.72(3), Florida Statutes (1975), which grants an exception to the APA for file and suspend procedures.

The Commission's approval of TECO's original SSI filing in 1989 and its approval of the extension in 1990 without a prior hearing are entirely consistent with this Court's interpretation of the file and suspend law. The Commission found no "good cause" to withhold its consent to the operation of TECO's tariffs and therefore approved their implementation as it is required to do. See Maule Industries v. Mayo, 342 So.2d 63, 67 n. 7 (Fla. 1976) (the Commission would appear to have a statutory obligation to withhold suspension and allow rates to become effective where it has no reasonable basis to believe that rates are unreasonable or discriminatory) The question of due process did not arise because TECO made its filing of the SSI tariff under the file and suspend law, and the Commission found no reason in Public Counsel's, or any other party's, arguments to suspend the tariff. Any substantial interest of the parties affected by the utility's tariff must initially yield to the rights of the utility to put its rates into effect under the file and suspend law, if the Commission has no reason to withhold its consent.

C. THE COMPLAINT HEARING GRANTED PUBLIC COUNSEL WAS THE PROPER VEHICLE TO CHALLENGE TECO'S SSI TARIFFS IMPLEMENTED UNDER THE FILE AND SUSPEND LAW.

As this Court recognized in the <u>Florida Interconnect</u> case, a complaint hearing is the proper vehicle to challenge a utility's rates put into effect under the file and suspend law. The issue is a simple one. Under the file and suspend law, the Commission cannot arbitrarily withhold consent to a utility's new rate schedules nor thwart their implementation by requiring the utility to face a hearing before the rates go into effect. A challenge is available to affected ratepayers, if the Commission has found no basis to object to the proposed tariff, but it must be brought through the complaint process.

The use of a complaint proceeding to challenge a tariff that has been approved by the Commission or that has become effective by operation of law is consistent with those parts of section 366.06 which define hearing requirements in rate proceedings. Section 366.06(2) states that

(w)henever the commission finds, <u>upon request made or</u> <u>upon its own motion</u>, that the rates demanded, charged, or collected by any public utility for public utility service, or that the rules, regulations, or practices of any public utility affecting such rates, are unjust, unreasonable, unjustly discriminatory, or in violation of law, . . . the commission shall order and hold a public hearing. (emphasis supplied)

Obviously, if the Commission has first consented to a tariff filing, it must have some basis to later pursue a challenge to it. That challenge can be initiated by the Commission on its own motion or by affected ratepayers. The vehicle available to the ratepayers is the complaint proceeding. That is clearly set out in section 366.07 which states that whenever the Commission finds "after public hearing either <u>upon its own motion or upon</u> <u>complaint</u>" that rates are unjust or unreasonable, it can adjust rates. This interpretation is not contradicted by the language of the file and suspend law, 366.06 (4), which has to do only with those instances where the Commission has found good cause to withhold its consent to the new rates. The phrase "(p)ending a final order . . . the Commission may withhold consent . . . " is directed toward providing the <u>utility</u> the opportunity for hearing where its proposed rates and the property interest embodied in them have been challenged by the Commission. It does not mean that there must be a hearing in any proceeding initiated under the file and suspend law.

Public Counsel has been given effectively two opportunities to pursue his complaint against both TECO's original SSI and the extension of that tariff: first, in the complaint hearing scheduled by the Commission in response to his petition directed to the original SSI tariff, and second, in the February, 1990, fuel adjustment proceedings. He has chosen to pursue neither and, in the instance of the Commission's approval of the extension of the SSI tariff, he has, in fact, not even asked for a hearing. Nevertheless, the law is clear that if Public Counsel wants to challenge a validly approved tariff, he must file a complaint stating the basis on which he contests the reasonableness of the That alternative is available to him at any time. rates. See, American District Telegraph Company v. Yarborough, 273 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1973). (court upheld Commission's finding that a formal complaint was proper vehicle to resolve burglar alarm company's challenge to Southern Bell's rate differentials between old and

new customers and general body of ratepayers) and <u>Alabama</u> <u>Metallurgical Corporation v. Alabama Public Service Commission</u>, 441 So.2d 565 (Ala. 1983) (complaint hearing was always available to ratepayers or commission to initiate review of rates, including those put into effect automatically without notice and hearing)

D. THE EXEMPTION TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT FOUND IN SECTION 120.72(3), FLORIDA STATUTES APPLIES TO ALL PROCEEDINGS UNDER THE FILE AND SUSPEND LAW.

This Court recognized in the <u>Florida Interconnect</u> case, <u>supra</u>, that the file and suspend laws survived the enactment of the new APA in 1974 by virtue of the exemption contained in section 120.72(3). 342 So.2d 814. The exemption applies to <u>all</u> filings under the file and suspend laws, not just those instances where the Commission has set an interim rate to grant the utility relief pending a final decision. This interpretation of the effect of 120.72(3) is consistent with the plain meaning of the statute. It states:

Notwithstanding any provision of this chapter, all public utilities and companies regulated by the Public Service Commission shall be entitled to proceed under the interim rate provisions of chapter 364 or the procedures for interim rates contained in chapter 75-195, Laws of Florida, or as otherwise provided by law.

Section 120.72(3) recognizes that, notwithstanding the enactment of Chapter 120, utilities and companies retain the right to pursue certain courses of action which affect the substantial interests of parties without the requirement for a prior hearing. Section 120.72(3) defines two instances in which this may occur: 1) utilities or companies may "proceed <u>under the interim rate</u> provisions of chapter 364 or (under) the procedures for interim rates contained in chapter 74-195, Laws of Florida;" or 2) utilities or companies may "proceed . . . as otherwise provided by law." The prepositional phrase "under the interim rate provisions . . ." and the clause "as otherwise provided by law" serve the function of adverbs which define "how" companies or utilities may "proceed". Each retains its grammatical and logical independence and each provides a distinct exception to the APA. A utility or company may seek an interim rate increase without the necessity of a hearing prior to putting the rates into effect. It may proceed in a like manner under the file and suspend law where the Commission takes no action within sixty days, or where the Commission approves the proposed tariff.

Section 366.06(4) in its broadest application is a provision of law which otherwise creates an exception to the APA. The plain meaning of the statute is clear and it should be given effect. <u>Citizens of Florida v. Florida Public Service Commission</u>, 435 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1983).

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